
New York Quarterly Meeting, Religious Society of Friends
Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business

Zoom/video-conferencing / Fifteenth Street Meeting
fourth month, eighteenth day, 2021

MINUTES

Present: Nancy Britton (Morningside), clerk; Ann Kjellberg (Fifteenth Street), recording clerk. 
Attendance: Brooklyn-14, Fifteenth Street-17, Flushing-3, Manhattan-2 , Morningside-14 , Staten 
Island-1, Quarterly Meeting General Manager-1, visitors-1. Total 55.

2021.04.01  The Meeting begins at 1:06 p.m. with waiting worship.

2021.04.02  The clerk gives the following message: 
“The power for authentic leadership, [Vaclav] Havel tells us, is found not in external arrangements 
but in the human heart. Authentic leaders in every setting - from families to nation to nation states - 
aim at liberating the heart, their own and others, so that is powers can liberate the world.”      
Parker Palmer, Let Your Life Speak, p. 76.

2021.04.03  Friends approve Ann Kjellberg as today’s recording clerk.

2021.04.04 The clerk reads the agenda and Friends approve without additions.

2021.04.05 Elizabeth Powers reads the Nominating Committees report. Their work has been 
grounded by the question, “What is the most loving thing we can do.” It has been a challenging 
year for nominations; some positions remain open. We need to discern whether we want to 
continue to have an organizing committee for the Gay Pride Parade. Friends Seminary is 
expanding its board by six. Friends accept the report.

2021.04.06 Friends, having read the Nominating Committees roster of proposed nominations 
online before the meeting and presented here as a consent agenda, approve the nominations.

2021.04.07 Nancy Hadley-Jaffe presents the report of the Audit & Budget committee and the 
annual audit. Charlene Ray volunteers to take questions, now or going forward. Friends accept the 
report and approve the audit.

2021.04.08 Nancy Hadley-Jaffe presents a Supplemental Report of the Relief Committee (to 
their usual January report).  The Relief Committee discerned on a proposal to distribute some 



Relief Committee Funds to the Monthly Meetings, in light of the pandemic emergency, to allow 
more swift distribution of funds to Friends in need. They make a proposal to distribute between 
$2,000 and $5,000 to each meeting earmarked to Pastoral Care Committees. (See attached report
for details of the proposal.) If this pilot program is successful it may be extended beyond the 
pandemic. This would be a departure from the current practice of returning funds to the Quarterly 
Meeting at the end of the year. They are awaiting answers from some of the Monthly Meetings. 
There was a suggestion to distribute unused funds to organizations in the community serving 
people in need. Friends accept the report. 

2021.04.09 Joan Malin reads the report of Brooklyn Monthly Meeting. Friends accept the report

2021.04.10 Hugo Lane reads the report of Flushing Monthly Meeting. Friends accept the report.

2021.04.11 Ted Lochwyn reads the report of Staten Island Monthly Meeting. Friends accept the
report. 

2021.04.12  NYQM clerk, Nancy Britton, turns the meeting over to Katherine Alford, President 
of the Corporation and clerk of trustees to clerk this meeting.

Meeting of the Corporation:
2021.04.01 The Annual Meeting of the corporation commences at 1:57 pm.

2021.04.02 Katherine Alford, President of the Corporation, clerks the meeting, declares a 
quorum present and calls the meeting to order.

2021.04.03 Glenn Josey, secretary of the corporation, serves as the recording clerk.

2021.04.04 The president reads a listing of the Trustees of the corporation as follows:
Pat Donahue
Bart Dominus
Glenn Josey
Sheila O'Hara
Bill Parrott
Jason Mcgill
Margery Cornwell
Emmanuel Mulundi

2021.04.05 The president reads a listing of the officers of the corporation as follows:
President – Glenn Josey
Vice President – Sheila O'Hara



Treasurer – Bart Dominus
Assistant Treasurer – Jerry Reisig
Secretary – To Be Named

2021.04.06 The President reads the Trustees and the Finance Sub-committee reports, which 
are appended to these minutes. Friends receive the reports, and the trustees whose appointments 
were approved in NYQM minute 2021.04.05 are deemed elected.

2021.04.07 The President adjourns the annual meeting of the corporation at 2:16 pm and 
returns the clerk’s table to the NYQM clerk.

NYQM Meeting resumes:
2021.04.13 Steven Munro Smith presents a report from Ministry and Council on the NYQM ad 
hoc committee on Brooklyn Friends School concerns. The committee worked from the query, 
“What actions can NYQM take to be of help to BFS at this time?” The ad hoc committee asked to 
be transformed into a small working group under the care of M&C to hold the relationships among 
F/friends and BFS in the Light and provide ministry. Friends accept the report and approve laying 
down the NYQM ad hoc committee.

2021.04.14 Carol Summar reads the report of 15th Street Monthly Meeting. Friends accept the 
report. Friends note that the 15th Street Peace Vigil was suspended temporarily for a few months 
in the winter but has been resumed. 

2021.04.15 Gloria Thompson reads the report of Manhattan Monthly Meeting. Friends accept 
the report. 

2021.04.16 Jane Alexandre reads the report of Morningsiden Monthly Meeting. Friends accept 
the report. 

2021.04.17 Our clerk reads the announcements. (see Advance Agenda).

2021.04.18 The Meeting closed with silence at 2:46.

Ann Kjellberg, interim recording clerk



ATTACHMENTS:
Brooklyn Monthly Meeting Report
Fifteenth Street Monthly Meeting
Flushing Monthly Meeting Report
Manhattan Monthly Meeting Report
Morningside Meeting Report
Staten Island Meeting Report

Audit and Budget Committee-Auditors Final Financial Statements
Audit and Budget Committee-2020 Financial Statements
Joint Nominating Committee Report
Joint Nominating Roster-APPROVED
Manhattan Meeting Letter To Monthly Meeting Clerks
Ministry and Counsel – BFS Ad Hoc Committee Report
Relief Committee Supplemental Report
Trustees Annual Report
Trustees Finance Sub-Committee Report



New York Quarterly Meeting, Religious Society of Friends
Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business

 Zoom/video-conferencing / Brooklyn Monthly Meeting
fourth month and eighteenth day, 2021

AGENDA

11-12pm: Meeting for Worship: joining Brooklyn Meeting for Zoom worship
1pm-2pm: Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business
2pm- : Trustees Annual Meeting of the Corporation
until 4pm: continue Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business

ZOOM link is at the bottom of this page and here: 
https://www.nycquakers.org/category/adocsbydate/april-meeting-2021/

Making our meeting go smoothly...

FINDING REPORTS:
Please read all reports on the website prior to the meeting found here:
go to: https://www.nycquakers.org/category/adocsbydate/april-meeting-2021/

OR
In your browser type in www.nycquakers.org and the NYQM website will come up. Roll 
cursor over “For NYQM Friends” (along the top it’s 2nd tab from right) and click on “April 
Meeting 2021”. 

ZOOM MEETING GUIDE:
 You are joined muted. TO SPEAK: unmute yourself, then mute yourself again when 

you are finished. If you are joining us by phone you can mute and unmute yourself 
using *6.

 Please rename yourself with your full name to assist us in keeping a list of attenders. 
Send a chat to the hosts if you would like help renaming yourself. 

 GIVING A MESSAGE: please raise your hand by clicking on “Participants” and 
“Raise Hand” (*9 for those joining us by phone). If we have missed you, send us a 
message in the chat. Please identify yourself by name when speaking.

 During Meeting for Business the chat function communicates only with the hosts, to 
support Friends with technical issues. If you have a technical concern by phone, please 
email: NYQMzoom@gmail.com

http://www.nycquakers.org/


Reading

Recording clerk approval

Agenda Review

Reports
Joint Nominating Report
Joint Nominating Roster – consent agenda
Audit and Budget 2020 Financial Report
Audit and Budget-Auditor’s Report

2pm Annual Meeting of the Corporation
Trustees Report

*M&C report – action item
Relief Committee report

Brooklyn Monthly Meeting Report
Fifteenth Street Meeting Report
Flushing Monthly Meeting Report
Manhattan Monthly Meeting Report 
Morningside Monthly Meeting Report
Staten Island Meeting Report

ANNOUNCEMENTS:

*NYQM’s July 17th’s will be on Zoom and co-clerked by both the outgoing and incoming 
clerks.

*Faith and Practice - 2020 revised edition is now available in white with a blue spine!
Copies of the revised edition of Faith and Practice are available to be mailed from the 

NYYM office. Copies cannot be picked up at this time. Complimentary copies have already 
been mailed to all Monthly Meeting Clerks, MM Clerks of Ministry & Counsel, and to all 
Prison Worship Group members.

One revision is an important change to Quaker practice. The Membership section has 
been rewritten to include an additional path to membership. Previously, the only path to 
membership was via a monthly meeting. Now prospective Friends have the option of applying 



directly to the yearly meeting via the clerk of Ministry and Pastoral Care Committee. It is 
hoped the new path will better accommodate those who move frequently, cannot connect with 
a monthly meeting, or are incarcerated.

To order your copy, contact office@nyym.org. The suggested contribution is $10.00 per 
copy.

*John McCutcheon concert (streaming to you!): “Calling All the Children Home: Songs of 
the Spirit, Faith, and Inclusion”. Saturday, May 1, 2021, 7:30pm. 
Admission is $5-$50, pick your category for contributions. 

Arguably one of the longer running American Quaker ministries is the performance of 
John McCutcheon. A dynamic performer, powerhouse multi instrumentalist and storyteller, 
John has a unique path to the point. He is outstanding. NYQM M&C had been working on 
bringing John to New York for a Jubilee year concert when sequestration intervened. We 
figured we could use the cheering up and he could use a ticket to visit the new grandchild in 
Brooklyn. 

Now, due to the miracles of technology which have become all too commonplace, we 
have the opportunity to be “with” a live event with John through a digital on-line platform 
(kind of like Zoom, with better sound and less responsibility). Amazingly, a small portion of 
the ticket price comes back to the NYQM!

Click through on the url link below for details and to sign up. All are welcome and no 
one will be turned away. Questions?: Contact Steve Monroe Smith at his email,  
steviepesce@icloud.com

https://boxoffice.mandolin.com/collections/john-mccutcheon/products/john-mccutcheon-calling-all-
the-children-home-songs-of-the-spirit-faith-and-inclusion-4-1?
utm_source=ef&utm_medium=aff&utm_campaign=79&oid=79&affid=434

*Downtown Allowed Meeting. The Downtown Meeting is planning to resume on Thursday 
May 6th from 6 to 7. We will continue to wear masks and keep socially distanced as we did last
year. Unless there is a torrential downpour we plan to meet every Thursday evening until 
September 30th. We meet in the Labyrinth which is in the northwest corner of Battery Park not 
far from the Koren monument and Castle Clinton. If you need directions, call or text Sally 
Campbell at 646 489-4175. We have a Facebook page "Downtown Manhattan Quaker 
Meeting" on which I just now put a new welcoming message for this year. There is a link to the
Facebook page from the NYQM and NYYM websites.

https://boxoffice.mandolin.com/collections/john-mccutcheon/products/john-mccutcheon-calling-all-the-children-home-songs-of-the-spirit-faith-and-inclusion-4-1?utm_source=ef&utm_medium=aff&utm_campaign=79&oid=79&affid=434
https://boxoffice.mandolin.com/collections/john-mccutcheon/products/john-mccutcheon-calling-all-the-children-home-songs-of-the-spirit-faith-and-inclusion-4-1?utm_source=ef&utm_medium=aff&utm_campaign=79&oid=79&affid=434
https://boxoffice.mandolin.com/collections/john-mccutcheon/products/john-mccutcheon-calling-all-the-children-home-songs-of-the-spirit-faith-and-inclusion-4-1?utm_source=ef&utm_medium=aff&utm_campaign=79&oid=79&affid=434
mailto:steviepesce@icloud.com
mailto:office@nyym.org


UPCOMING NYQM DATES:
2021 NYQM dates:
July 17th: Saturday, Zoom (usually at the Quaker Cemetery, Prospect Park, Brooklyn)
October 17th: Morningside Monthly Meeting, Manhattan

2022 NYQM dates:
January 16th: Brooklyn Friends Meeting, Brooklyn
April 17th: Fifteenth Street Meeting, Manhattan [Easter]
July 16th: Saturday, Quaker Cemetery, Prospect Park, Brooklyn
October 16th: Flushing Monthly Meeting, Flushing

ZOOM LINK FOR TODAY’S MEETING:

Click link below to join Zoom Meeting by Video
https://zoom.us/j/2153104074

Meeting ID: 215 310 4074 

Password, if needed: 15221

Mobile Phone Dial In

Tap number below on mobile phones in order to call.

After message requesting code tap phone again and code will be entered automatically.
+1 (646) 876-9923 2153104074#

Traditional Phone Call In

Dial by phone & Code
PH: (646) 876-9923

Code: 215 310 4074 

Password, if needed: 15221

https://zoom.us/j/2153104074


     FIFTEENTH STREET MONTHLY MEETING 
RELIGIOUS SOCIETY OF FRIENDS 

15 Rutherford Place, New York, NY 10003 
Telephone (212) 475-0466 

fifteenthstreetny@yahoo.com 
http://fifteenth.quaker.org/ 

 
 
Fourth Month 18, 2021* 
Fifteenth Street Quarterly Report 
 
 
Dear Friends, 
 
Our 11 o’clock First Day worship is deep, and the messages spirit led. The zoom 
fellowship following worship is comforting, hearing from members, regular attenders, 
and visitors. Our committees are taking actions to further our care of each other, and 
our awareness of the wider world. Ministry and Worship and Property Committees are 
working towards the time when we can safely gather together again in person for our 
worship, without losing the benefits we have enjoyed through zoom.    
    
 
During January, February, and March we held Meeting for Worship each First Day at 
11:00 AM on zoom with First Day School at 10:00 AM.  On second First Days we held 
bible study on zoom at 9:30.  Meetings for Worship with a Concern for Business were 
held on January 10, February 14, and March 14. Our Peace Vigil at the Washington 
Square Arch, which has occurred for over 30 years, was suspended due to the 
pandemic. Committees continued their work over zoom. The Ad Hoc Committee for 
Racial Justice has started a reading group on zoom, with "Caste: The Origins of our 
Discontents" by Isabel Wilkerson, as the first selection. The Peace and Social Justice 
Committee keeps in contact with our elected officials. We continue to revise our 
handbook. It is encouraging to note our ongoing efforts to put our spiritual affairs in 
order, both personally and as a faith community.  
 
This quarter, we lost long time member Sara R. Baker. Sara, a former overseer of the 
Fifteenth Street Friends Meeting, passed away peacefully at home in her sleep on 
February 14, 2021.  She was 97 years old. She was buried on Sunday, February 21 at 
the Quaker cemetery in Brooklyn, and the service was held privately due to the 
pandemic.  While dementia and limited mobility in her last years precluded her active 
participation in the Quaker community, she remained committed to its principles and in 
touch with her inner light.  
Condolences can be sent to her son, Tim Baker, c/o Fifteenth Street Friends Meeting.  
 
In the spirit, 
 
Carol Summar 
Clerk, Fifteenth Street Monthly Meeting 
 

mailto:fifteenthstreetny@yahoo.com
http://fifteenth.quaker.org/


<20210412_QM_M&C_Minute_ 20210412-A) > 
  

Religious Society of Friends (Quakers) 
15 Rutherford Place 

New York, NY 10013 
New York Quarterly Meeting 

Ministry and Counsel Committee 
 (NYQM M&C) 

Regular Meeting-Fourth Month 
04.12.2021 

A NYQM Ministry and Counsel Minute laying down the  
BFS ad hoc Committee 

20210412-A) Friends have submitted the following for discernment and 
consideration: 

<20210419_QM_M&C_Report_Establishing_BFS_QM_Working_Group> 

After time for reading, issues are considered at length. One Friend 
describes this small working group as prescribing the needed vessel and 
strongest support we can currently give this effort. Friends are throughly 
harmonious in the creation of the BFS QM Working Group. We ask the 
Quarterly Meeting to lay down the BFS Ad hoc Committee detailed in 
the authorization below: 

<20201029_QM_M&C_DRAFT_adhoc_Committee_Authorization> 

In Light, 

Steven Monroe Smith, clerk



M&C Report to the NYQM on the BFS ad hoc committee
2021-04-18 

2020-10-18 AD HOC COMMITTEE FORMED:

At the tenth month seventeenth day meeting of New York Quarterly Meeting (NYQM), Brooklyn 
Monthly Meeting (BMM) in their quarterly report brought the following minute to the NYQM and it 
was approved: “We ask the New York Quarterly Meeting to take up this issue [Brooklyn Friends School
(BFS) conflict] and find a way forward to address our concerns.” (BMM’s full report is in the NYQM 
October 18, 2020 minutes: 20201018_BrooklynMonthlyMeeting).

At the conclusion of the listening session in this same NYQM meeting, the body approved the following
minute for M&C to form an ad hoc committee:

2020.10.17 Friends engage in worshipful listening to one another sharing concerns and
insights for our Brooklyn Friends School and Quaker communities on working together to
heal and discern possible ways forward. Friends agree to form an ad hoc committee to
discern how the Quarter can support the Brooklyn Care Relationship Committee in their
work for labor justice, racial justice and equality at Brooklyn Friends School, as well as
encouraging familiarity with Friends’ values and practices. Those interested in
volunteering for the committee would contact the clerk, assistant clerk and Ministry and
Counsel clerk (nancy AT brittonfamily DOT org, steviepesce AT icloud DOTcom).

NYQM’s AD HOC COMMITTEE’S WORK REPORT:

Many F/friends reached out to the clerks. At the following NYQM Ministry & Council (M&C) meeting 
on October 29, 2020, M&C wrote the attached 20201029-QM M&C BFS ad hoc committee 
Authorization with four queries to support and guide its way forward, deliberately allowing a broad 
charge and wide participation. M&C discerned a convener, Alice Pope. With tenderness Alice and 
M&C discerned that Quaker process be followed in assembling this ad hoc committee and given the 
nature of the concerns before it that a listening exploration of all constituencies was essential. Acquiring
and distilling these concerns would be the convener’s purview and M&C is grateful to Alice Pope of 
Brooklyn Monthly Meeting for her leading to rise to this challenge and her subsequent ministry in her 
long work.

In summary:
Sensitivity to disrupted relationships between BFS and monthly and quarterly meetings, and 
among individuals in our Quaker faith community made it important that any action taken not 
result in further escalation of the conflict. Alice Pope embarked on a “listening tour” to identify 
potential avenues for assisting BFS and Friends in right relationship. Consulting with individuals
and small groups, mostly using Zoom, some via telephone, and a very few using email all spoke 



to the query: What actions can NYQM take to be of help to BFS at this time? There continues to
be disruption and concern in numerous areas and to recognize the multiple contributing factors 
including pandemic; new head of school; heightened racial tensions nationally and at the school;
unionization; a wish for opportunities to have questions answered and to have concerns heard 
and considered; more genuinely Quaker approaches; and more. Pervasive was the question “Can
the Quaker community show leadership in lovingly extending an invitation to the school to find 
the right way forward together?” Throughout the listening tour, Alice repeatedly brought 
gleanings to trusted Friends, who served to support discernment. Over thirty F/friends sat with 
Alice in discernment during this ‘tour’.  Several individuals stated that this listening tour was, in 
itself, healing for those who have felt unheard, and gratitude to NYQM was expressed for this. A
sense of ministry permeated these conversations.

By the end of February, 2021, Alice felt that this phase of the work was completed and asked for the ad 
hoc committee to be laid down while seeing the way forward as transforming the ad hoc committee into
a small working group under the care of M&C to hold the relationships among F/friends and BFS in the
Light and provide ministry.

*M&C approved laying down the ad hoc committee and recommends to the New York Quarterly 
Meeting that this committee be laid down. (20210412-AA NYQM Ministry and Counsel Minute laying 
down the BFS ad hoc committee). 

WORKING GROUP  FORMED UNDER  THE CARE OF M&C:

Recognizing that the primary work that needs to be done is to repair, restore and nurture the relationship
between our meetings and BFS and that this work is and always will be, on-going, this small working 
group is a proxy for each of their committees. 

This working group will be composed of one current member each of the bodies that work with BFS 
acknowledging that some will represent more than one group: 
one each from Brooklyn Monthly Meeting: M&C 

BMM Friend/parent
         BMM CRC member

one each from Brooklyn Friends School: BFS Trustees
BFS administration
BFS colleagues

This working group remains under NYQM’s M&C’s care and will maintain their connection and on an 
as-needed basis. An NYQM member of the group will be the liaison to M&C. Alice is willing to 
continue her work, now as the convener of this working group, and as a member of the NYQM. 

This working group is charged with “nurturing the care relationship” of Friends and our schools. 
Finding love through conflict and maintaining right relationship into the future are great challenges and 
many avenues will emerge with clarity and unity with openness to the spirit. The members of this 



working group should be prepared to be present and generous with their energy and time, maintaining 
their active participation throughout their time on their respective committees. 

This working group will bring recommendations to M&C. The NYQM’s M&C is open and in expectant
waiting to provide support and resources to further this work. All members must continue to ask and 
consider thoughtfully how this work is moving forward in the spirit and are they holding and speaking 
to the concerns of all involved and to continue to discern when they feel they can lay their work down.

This working group was formed by M&C minute 20210412-A. This report and the M&C minute will 
be sent to the clerks of BMM, BMM M&C, BMM CRC, BFS Trustees and the convener will begin her 
work assembling the working group members.

In Friendship,

Steve Monroe Smith, NYQM M&C clerk
Zack Edminster
Ed Elder
Jolene Festa
David Herendeen
Hugo Lane
Robert Wilber
Nancy Britton, NYQM clerk, ex officio

REFERENCES to past NYQM minutes:
20201018_BrooklynMonthlyMeeting

ATTACHMENTS:
20201018_M&CBFSUnionCommunityReconciliationMinute
20201029_M&CMinuteForNYQMBFSAdHocCmteAuthorization



20201018-QM_BFS_Union_Community_Reconciliation_Minute

20201018-QM_BFS_Union_Community_Reconciliation_Minute

Friends,

The Ministry and Counsel Committee (NYQM) feels we must rec-
ognize the recent events surrounding the Union at Brooklyn 
Friends School. Our testimonies and advices lead us not to assign
blame, but to acknowledge the high level of trauma to which 
these events have led. As such traumas can only be healed first 
through acknowledgment, let us all recognize what has happened
here.

To the Brooklyn Monthly Meeting concern as to questions of the 
“values and process at the heart of our faith,” we would ask 
Friends to give the BFS/Brooklyn Monthly Meeting Care Commit-
tee both the time and peace to recover to address this issue. We 
will forward your concern.

To the concern featuring Children of color at Brooklyn Friends 
School, we will name representatives to a working group on the 
issue. 

In times as these, with the very great demands externally being 
made upon the humanity of us all, let us reach down deep into 
ourselves first and find ways forward together. Ministry and Coun-
sel makes itself available to assist in reconciliation between all 
effected by these events. The night has passed. Let us look to 
dawn.

NYQM M&C Committee
Tenth Month, Eighteen, 2020



20201029-QM M&C BFS ad hoc Committee Authorization

Religious Society of Friends (Quakers)
15 Rutherford Place

New York, NY 10013
New York Quarterly Meeting

Ministry and Counsel Committee
 (NYQM M&C)

10.29.2020

20201029-QM M&C BFS ad hoc Committee Authorization

During the listening session of the October 28, 2020 New York Quarterly Meeting (QM) Friends heard 
the concerns expressed about Brooklyn Friends School (BFS) by Friends of the Quarter, BFS 
personnel, and BFS parents, students and alumnae and their community.

The NYQM Ministry and Counsel Committee (NYQM M&C) responds to the session’s call for an ad 
hoc committee to be formed to bring clarity and unity to finding ways forward. As the QM has a 
responsibility of oversight of the Quaker nature of BFS, and M&C is its agency for such concerns, 
Friends are in unity to form the ad hoc committee under the care of M&C. 

The Brooklyn Monthly Meeting (BMM) and the BMM Care Relationship Committee with NYQM’s 
M&C will assemble the ad hoc committee members drawn from Friends invited from the BFS Care 
Committee, invited Friends from the BFS personnel-(administration, faculty and staff), and invited 
individuals with Quaker experience from the BFS parents and community. The ad hoc committee will 
report on a frequent basis to the NYQM’s M&C.

The ad hoc committee is instructed to seek to create a safe space, to act in the manner of Friends, and to
initially set aside all prior assumptions and to start with worshipful consideration of first principles and 
discerning the ways forward in a spirit-led process.

We offer queries to support spirit-led guidance as the process begins:

1. What is needed for a Quaker school to be authentically Quaker, beyond professing “Quaker values”?

2. How does a Quaker school balance and maintain a self-aware and intentional Quaker perspective as 
it interacts with the social and economic expectations and requirements of the
external society?

3. How does a Quaker school balance and maintain its BFS colleagues and administrative roles in 
accord with the testimonies of equality, simplicity and integrity?

4. What support do Friends bring to support a Quaker school that is in their care?

From worshipful and spirit-led consideration, Friends’ perspectives on the actual facts of the situation 
as well as the interpretations of events and personal experiences of people involved may emerge with 
tenderness and increased clarity, perhaps leading to unity on
recommendations for future actions.



We need clarity about the needs for each aspect of our community of faculty/staff, administration, BFS 
parents, BMM-BFS CRC, BFS trustees, and our children. We need to ensure that all concerned have 
the resources and understanding they need to comfortably and capably work within Quaker processes.

In Light,

Steven Monroe Smith, clerk 
NYQM M&C Committee 



Report from the Finance Sub- Committee for 2021. 
The value of NYQM assets on December 31, 2020 was $31.68 million up from $28.74 million at 
December 31, 2019. This represented a 10.2% rate or return on our total assets.  The stock and 
bond markets staged a strong recovery after dropping precipitously in the first quarter of 2020. 
For the Friends Fiduciary Growth and Income Fund, the one-year total return as of December 
31, 2020 was 15.53% while it’s benchmark returned 11.72% for the same period.  The Quaker 
Green Fund returned 16.48% while it’s benchmark returned 11.62%.  
 
The investment committee decreased NYQM investments in the stock and bond markets in the 
belief that both were at risk for a significant decline prior to the first quarter 2021 drop in the face 
of the pandemic.  The investment committee kept a higher than normal amount of NYQM’s 
assets in short term fixed income investments for the remainder of the year. Thus our return for 
the year lagged most balanced funds.  Our assets are now invested with the following asset 
allocation: 
66% in Friends Fiduciary Funds (stocks and bonds) 
25% in a Vanguard GNMA fund (FHA/VA mortgage backed securities) 
4% money markets/cash equivalent 
5% in notes to community development financial institutions and non-profits 
 
During 2020, Friends Fiduciary announced a decrease in pay outs, due to expected lower 
returns as intersted rates may rise going forward retruns will likely be lower and therefore 
payouts should decline.   
 
Guided by the minutes in favor of fossil fuel divestment from monthly meetings in the quarter 
and NYYM,  your committee determined it was prudent to request that Friends Fiduciary divest 
its largest fund, the Growth and Income Fund and all its other funds, from fossil fuels enabling 
all constituent  investors to benefit from the wide diversification and lower costs associated with 
the flagship Growth and Income Fund rather than divesting only a portion through the Quaker 
Green Fund which had previously been set up as a compromise.  In January, 2020, NYQM 
investment committee sent a letter to Friends Fiduciary, the investment firm that manages the 
majority of NYQM’s assets to request full divestment from fossil fuels.  An excerpt from that 
letter is below: 
 
New York Quarterly Meeting requests that Friends Fiduciary Corporation divest the Quaker 
Growth and Income Fund with good speed from all companies on the Carbon Underground 200 
(www.fossifreefunds.org) list, compiled and maintained by Fossil Free Indexes 
(www.fossilfreeindexes.com), and that they also divest all holdings from companies involved in 
fossil fuel development and production. We also ask Friends Fiduciary Corporation to redirect at 
least an amount equal to that divested from fossil fuels to be re-invested into green technologies 
and solutions in alignment with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 
(www.sustainabledevelopment.un.org). This requires investing with asset managers who have 
expertise in climate-responsive investing in all seven sectors of solutions promoted by Project 
Drawdown (www.drawdown.org). We hope that Friends Fiduciary Corporation will join us in 
expanding our efforts regarding a concern of vital importance to Quakers and indeed all people 



and living beings on Earth. “ 
 
We are happy to report that by year end 2020, Friends Fiduciary announced their intention to 
divest the Quaker Growth and Income Fund from fossil fuels and to introduce a new Impact 
Fund which will enable constituent meetings to invest more of their assets in climate -responsive 
asset managers (The new impact fund will have 3 green asset managers instead of the 1 green 
asset manager in the prior Quaker Green Fund). As a result of the Friends Fiduciary divestment 
decision the Quaker Green Fund (which had $5.1 million of NYQM assets) will be merged into 
the Growth and Income Fund unless a constituent meeting instructs otherwise.  NYQM has 
chosen to invest the entire $5.1 million into the new Quaker Impact Fund.  We are pleased with 
the outcome of the friendly dialogue with Friends Fiduciary and are proud of the work that 
Friends Fiduciary does on our behalf with organizations like the Ceres Investor Network on 
Climate Risk, the UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI) and the Net Zero by 2050 
initiative among others. 
 
We have continued to renew our investments in Community Development Financial Institutions 
(CDFIs) for a total of $2.15 million (6.7% of total assets) invested in Opportunity Finance 
Network (a national association of CDFIs), Low Income Investment Fund (another national 
CDFI), Shared Interest (a Southern African loan guarantee fund), Local Initiative Support 
Corporation (another national CDFI) and Leviticus Fund (a NY faith based CDFI).  The 
committee believes that these investments are prudent because they help create stability and 
opportunity in low income communities and provide higher interest rates than those for fixed 
income investments in larger more financially strong borrowers.  In addition, in July, 2020 
NYQM purchased $845,000 of the inaugural Green Bond Issue of the Connecticut Green Bank.  
This will provide additional funding for the state of Connecticut’s Green Bank to increase the 
funds available for residential and small business solar and energy efficiency projects that come 
to fruition in that state. 
 
In 2021, the committee will discern the appropriate cap, if any, for socially purposeful 
investments in relation to total assets under management. We will have the conversation as to 
whether we can find investment opportunities that both outperform the stock market (in a more 
normal year than 2020) and achieve a social purpose in concert with Friends’ testimonies. 
 
We will continue to meet at least quarterly to review investment performance and decide if any 
rebalancing of the portfolio is necessary.  We will seek guidance from the body and from the 
Trustees in fulfilling our obligations.  As of now our Investment Policy Statement requires we 
seek to meet the needs of NYQM to retain the purchasing power of its assets, to  earn a return 
above the rate of inflation and to outperform in the various asset categories we select.  We will 
continue discussions about the need to prioritize outperforming in each asset category vs the 
need to use our assets to meet the needs of people and communities at this time of great need 
and stress in our nation and the world. 
 



The New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends
Meeting held Virtually on April 18, 2010 at 2:00 pm
 

At the annual meeting of the Corporation of the New York Quarterly Meeting of the Clerk
calls a meeting Virtually on April 18, 2021 at 1:57 pm.
 
As President of the Corporation, and Clerk of Trustees, I declare a quorum present and
call the meeting to order.

Recording clerk: Glenn Josey
 
Trustees, with the assistance and advice of the Joint Nominating Committee of the
Quarter, present the following Friends for Trustees: 
  

Pat Donahue
Bart Dominus
Glenn Josey
Sheila O’Hara
Bill Parrott
Jason McGill
Jerry Reisig
Margery Cornwell
Emmanuel Mulundi
 
 
Annual Report to the Meeting of the Corporation.

Dear Friends,
According to the Quarter’s By-Laws, Trustees shall “have custody and control of the
property, real and personal, belonging to the corporation and revenues there from, shall
administer the same according to the usages of the New York Quarterly Meeting of the
Religious Society of Friends, and do all things necessary and expedient in the
management thereof.” 
 
The officers of the Corporation are:

President (Clerk), Glenn Josey
Vice President (Assistant Clerk), Sheila O'Hara
Treasurer, Bart Dominus
Assistant Treasurer, Jerry Reisig
Secretary of the Corporation, TBD
 



We met every month including July and August in 2020-21and as needed. During the
Covid Emergency we met virtually and more frequently starting in March 2020. We met
in July 2020 to discern issues related to opening spaces during the Covid pandemic.
 
At each meeting, Ahmet Baydur, General Manager, provided a monthly report, including
financial reports, for our review and consideration.
 
During the course of the year, other Friends joined us, both individually and as members
of Quarterly and Monthly Meeting committees. 
 
We conducted a portion of our work in three subcommittees, Finance, Personnel, and
Facilities Coordinating Committee.
 
We sent a representative to the Friends Seminary Care Relationship Committee, as
directed by the Essential Principles, Practices and Procedures.

Finance Sub Committee:  Attached

Trustees reviewed the 2020 audit and the 2021 budget process. We worked with Audit
and Budget Committee to upgrade reporting to provide clarity. 
 
Personnel Sub Committee:
 
We welcomed Kim Castaneda’s baby Sebastian in August.
 
Personnel Committee Report:

It's been a challenging year for staff because of Covid. Facilities staff as well as the
General Manager have been working at both locations. Office staff continue to work
remotely. We are monitoring the opening of our spaces and work environment in line
with CDC protocols.

We are actively looking to fill the open position for a Facilities Director. We hope to finish
this search in the coming weeks.
 
The Personnel Sub Committee encourages all Friends who have praise and concern
about individual Quarterly Meeting staff to speak to the General Manager. The
Personnel Sub Committee and Clerk welcomes feedback and suggestions from Friends
throughout the year.
 
Please thank all members of the NYQM staff for their work supporting our community:

Ahmet Baydur, General Manager 
Ceion Lewis, Superintendent/Handyman
Melissa Springs, Account Administrator



Kim Castaneda, Program Coordinator
 
15 Street Staff:
Miriam Perez, Tyrone Brown, Huot Sary
 
Brooklyn Meeting Staff:
Jorge Myles, Dennis Perez.
 
Facilities Coordinating Committee:

The Facilities Coordinating Committee (FCC), a sub-committee of the Trustees reviews
all plans and proposals from Monthly meeting property committees for capital
improvements or maintenance. Through its broad membership it provides a Quarterly
Meeting perspective on projects in our properties. FCC developed a systematic project
planning schedule to assure proposed work is identified in time for inclusion in the
NYQM budgeting process.

During the past year the FCC has recommended the approval of ARO as our general
Architect.

FCC approved a contract with Page Ayres Cowley Architecture (PACA) to develop a
preservation and sustainability plan for the 15 Street Meetinghouse.

FCC continues to work on a project to install custom safety exit gates at 15th Street.  

In Brooklyn, FCC approval of ARO to provide oversight of the Kitchen Renovation at the
Meetinghouse,

The Committee reviewed and approved plans for the repair of the cornice of 112-116
Schermerhorn Street.
 
Clerks Report:

Spaces in the Central Building that were to be returned to NYQM and Friends Seminary
as per our separation agreements. FS vacated the old Faculty Center and the
Woodshop in the Central Building. NYQM returned Room 3 to Friends Seminary.

We continue to work with each Meeting on coordinating when and how to open our
spaces safely for our communities during the Covid pandemic. We worked with our
consultants at Urban Projects Collective to lay out a plan for each of our
Meetinghouses.

We have added zoom capabilities to each of our Meetings.
 
Friends Seminary campus redevelopment project was completed in fall 2019. Final
closing documents filings have been delayed because of Covid as well as the additional



work of the Turrell Sky Project on the Town Houses. Urban Projects Collaborative
continues to monitor the closing documents on behalf of NYQM and reports to Trustees.

We are in conversation with FS on the use of the alleyway and courtyard for staging the
work for the Turrell SkySpace.

New York Quarterly Meeting continues be engaged Child's Victim Act suit involving
Brooklyn Friends and Friends Seminary while they were under the care of the Meeting. 
We are represented by Seyfarth Shaw LLP in these cases. The open period for cases
was extended for a year because of Covid.

Trustees approved these goals for 2021, to guide us in planning and operations.
 
1) Monitor, Update and Execute approved guidelines to keep our members, staff,
tenants, and users safe in our Meetinghouses and spaces during the Covid pandemic.
2) Update our office procedures and equipment to make working remotely as efficient
and seamless as possible.
3) Support Meetings in continuing both virtual and in person meetings when
appropriate.
4) Continue Capital Project Planning and execution for the 15th Street Meetinghouse
and Central building renovations, including a new Shelter space.
5) Oversee the Brooklyn kitchen renovation project.
6) Complete repairs to facade at 112 Schermerhorn Street.
 
In Friendship,

Katherine Alford, Bart Dominus, Glenn Josey, Bill Parrott, Sheila O’Hara, Pat Donahue,
Jason McGill and Jerry Reisig
 
Respectfully submitted,
Katherine Alford,
Clerk



NYQM MEETING FOR WORSHIP WITH A CONCERN FOR BUSINESS 

APPROVED 18TH DAY OF 4TH MONTH  

 

 

NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING 

COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 

 ‘c’ denotes current clerk of committee; ‘cc’ denotes co-clerk; ‘r‘ denotes recording clerk;  

all terms ending in April unless otherwise indicated   

     

  OFFICERS:  Term: 1 yr; max tenure: 5 consecutive terms  

    

  Nominations   Who Nomin? Current Name Office  Meeting    Term 

   NYQM  Katherine Alford Clerk  Morningside     1 

  ____________  NYQM    Asst Clerk        1 

       NYQM  Bart Dominus Treasurer Morningside             2 

     NYQM  Jerry Reisig Asst Treasurer Morningside     1  

  

  NY QUARTERLY MEETING TRUSTEES:  9 members; term: 3 yrs;  max tenure 2 consecutive terms 

             

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr 

 

    c Glenn Josey   15th Street    1 2022 

     Bart Dominus              Morningside      2 2022 

   Jerry Reisig     Morningside    p 2022 

Bill Parrott   Brooklyn                  2 2023  

     Jason McGill   Morningside      1 2023 

     Margery Cornwell   15th Street                  p 2023 

     Sheila O'Hara   Brooklyn    2 2024 

     Pat Donahue            15th Street       2 2024 

     Emmanuel Mulundi               Manhattan    1 2024 

    

  AUDIT AND BUDGET COMMITTEE:  6 members; term: 3 yrs, max tenure: 2 cons terms 

   

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr  

   

  __________         1 2024 

           c Charlene Ray   Morningside  1  2022  

    Nancy Hadley Jaffe  15th Street  2 2022 

   Claire Litherland   15th Street  1 2023 

   Kathy Stackhouse   Pittsburgh, PA  1 2023 

   Paul van Linden-Tol  Brooklyn  1 2024 

  

  BROOKLYN FRIENDS SCHOOL TRUSTEES COMMITTEE:  9 members; term: 3 yrs, ending Sept; 

     max: 3 cons terms; nominations needed in April; 1 Bklyn MM nomination 

 

  Nominations  Current Name  Who Nomin? Meeting   Term  End Yr  

   

  ____________    NYQM     1 2024  

____________    NYQM     1 2024  

     Lakisha Grant   NYQM     Brooklyn  1 2022 

     Audrey Jaynes    NYQM  Montclair   1       2022 

Marilyn Stotts NYQM  Brooklyn   1 2022 

   Gloria Thompson NYQM  Manhattan  1 2023        

  c Ed Oliver NYQM  Brooklyn  2 2023 

Electra CummingsBklyn Mtg   Brooklyn  1 2023  

     Martha Hyde        NYQM  Brooklyn  1 2024 

 



NYQM MEETING FOR WORSHIP WITH A CONCERN FOR BUSINESS 

APPROVED 18TH DAY OF 4TH MONTH  

 

 

CEMETERY COMMITTEE:  6 members; term: 3 yrs, max tenure: 3 cons terms 

 

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr 

 

     John Major        Brooklyn  1 2022 

              Maureen Healy   15th Street  1  2022 

    c Bryan Oettel   Morningside    1 2023  

              Suzanne Stout   15th Street   3 2023 

     Jessie Fleischer-Black  Brooklyn  1 2024 

     Chris Roddick   Brooklyn  2 2024 

    

 CMTE FOR DOWNTOWN MANHATTAN ALLOWED MTG:  4 mem; term: 3 yrs, no maximum tenure 

   

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr  

    

           c Richard Schmidt   Morningside  1 2022 

     Andy von Salis   Brooklyn    1 2022 

                Sally Campbell   Morningside    6 2023 

     Barbara Kuesell   Brooklyn    3 2024 

  

 COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE:  6 members; term: 3 yrs, max tenure: 2 terms 

   

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr  

 

   Steven Monroe Smith  15th Street  1 2022 

     Nadine Baldasare   Brooklyn  1 2022 

     Dave Britton   Morningside  1 2023 

                c Ann Kjellberg   15th Street  1 2023 

Adam Segal-Isaacson  Brooklyn  1 2024 

     Bryan Oettel   Morningside  2 2024  

 

EDUCATIONAL FUND:      6 members; term: 3 yrs, max tenure: 2 cons terms 

 

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr   

         

  _____________            1 2024  

  Elizabeth Powers   Brooklyn     1  2022 

     Glenn Josey   15th Street    2 2023 

                    Carol Warner   Flushing      1 2023 

     Travis Combs   15th Street             2  2024 

                                c Marc LaRiviere    15th Street     2  2024 

   

 

 
  



NYQM MEETING FOR WORSHIP WITH A CONCERN FOR BUSINESS 

APPROVED 18TH DAY OF 4TH MONTH  

 

 

FRIENDS SEMINARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES COMMITTEE:  9 members; term: 3 yrs, ending Sept;  

  max: 3 cons terms   One 15th Street MM nomination 

 

  Nominations  Current Name  Who Nomin? Meeting   Term  End Yr 

  

  ______________    NYQM     1 2024 

______________    NYQM     p 2022 

______________    NYQM     p 2023 

______________    NYQM     p 2023 

               David Garrity NYQM  15th Street    1  2022  

     Ben Smith NYQM  15th Street    3 2022 

     Doug Tyler NYQM  Ithaca, NY    partial 2022 

     c Isaac Henderson NYQM  Paulina, IA   2 2023   

    Andrew Lowry NYQM  Ridgewood  1 2023  

     Lee Rada NYQM  Morningside    1 2024  

     Buxton Midyette 15th St.  15th Street  2 2024 

     Mark Doty NYQM  Brooklyn  3 2024 

 

  GAY PRIDE PARADE COORDINATORS:  2 members:  3 year terms, no max terms 

 

  Nominations   Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr  

   

  _______________           1 2023  

               1 2024 

     

  GREAT LAKES REGION (AFRICA) EDUCATION CMTE:  6 members; 3 yr terms, no max terms 

 

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr  

 

Margaret Mulindi    Manhattan    5  2020   

     Mary Ann Baily   Brooklyn  1 2022  

    c Marna Herrity   Brooklyn     5  2022 

     Tony Shitemi    Nairobi Int’l     6 2023 

     Corona Machemer   Valley      6 2024 

     Margery Cornwell  15th Street     8  2024   

 

  HANDBOOK COORDINATING COMMITTEE:  3 members:   2 years; 2 consecutive terms 

  

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr 

   

     Bryan Wigfall   Morningside     1    2022  

     Charles Sirey   15th Street  2 2022 

     Steve Greechie      15th Street  1     2023 

  

   

  

 

 

   
  



NYQM MEETING FOR WORSHIP WITH A CONCERN FOR BUSINESS 

APPROVED 18TH DAY OF 4TH MONTH  

 

 

MINISTRY AND COUNSEL CMTE:  9 members; term:  2 yrs; max tenure:  3 terms 

 

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr 

     

              1 2022 

   Ed Elder    Morningside    1 2022 

        c Steven Monroe Smith  15th Street    2 2022 

     Hugo Lane   Flushing   1 2022  

   Zach Edminster   15th St     1 2022 

   Jolene Festa   Brooklyn   1 2023 

     Diana Smith Barker  15th Street      1  2023 

     Robert Wilber     Stillwater OH  3 2023 

     David Herendeen   Manhattan  2 2023 

   

NOMINATING COMMITTEE:  7 members; term:  2 yrs; max: 3 cons terms; all members nominated by mm's 

    

  Nominations  Current Name  Who Nomin? Meeting   Term  End Yr  

  

  _____________    Flushing Mtg Flushing   1 2022  

  _____________    M'side   Mtg Morningside              1     2023 

  _____________    Bklyn     Mtg Brooklyn  1 2023 

  _____________    15th St   Mtg 15th Street     1 2023 

     Beverly Archibald M'hattn  Mtg Manhattan   1  2022 

   Charles Sirey 15th St   Mtg 15th Street     3 2022  

     Patty Frascatore Bklyn Mtg Brooklyn  2 2022 

    

RELIEF COMMITTEE:  7 members; term: 3 yrs, max tenure: 3 cons terms 

 

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr  

   

           Bobby Gonzales   15th Street     1 2022 

     Emmanuel Mulindi  Manhattan  1  2022  

    c Jessie Fleischer-Black  Brooklyn    1 2023     

     Ted Bongiovanni   Brooklyn  1 2023 

     CJ Holm    Brooklyn  1 2023 

     Andres Colapinto   Brooklyn    2 2024  

        Ronald Reider   Morningside  1 2024  

  

 NYYM MINISTRY COORD CMTE:  term: 3 yrs; max 2 terms, must be a member of one of the monthly   

 meeting ministry and counsel/oversight committees at the time the appointment is made 

 

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr  

 

     Hugo Lane                  Flushing      1 2022 

 

NYYM NOMINATING CMTE: 3 appointees; term: 3 yrs, ending in April; max tenure: 2 terms 

  

  Nominations  Current Name    Meeting   Term  End Yr 

     Ernie Buscemi   Morningside      p  2022 

                 1 2022 

    Ben Frisch   Brooklyn                    1            2022   

 



  Manhattan Monthly Meeting  
    Religious Society of Friends (Quakers) 
     15 Rutherford Pl. New York, NY. 10003 
     Telephone:  347-931-2008 
 
 

Pastor:  David Herendeen                                      Co-Clerks:  Margaret Mulindi & Gloria Thompson 

 
Quarterly Meeting Report, April 2021 

 
Manhattan Monthly Meeting gives praise and thanks to the Almighty for giving us the opportunity to 
witness His love in this season of Prayer, Pandemic, Protests and Peace-making.  Our Meeting's 2021 
theme:  "Hope", with emphasis on Romans 15:13 "May the God of Hope fill you with all joy and peace in 
that the God of Hope stands at the center of our daily lives. You are all invited to journey with us, as we 
travel on the road to fulfilling our theme. 

 
Our pastor, David Herendeen, conducts worship virtually every First Day at 9:30am.   Our 2nd First Day 
Bible study focuses on "Jesus' Lineage".   On 5th First Day, in January, Pastor Gilbert Imbayi, Baltimore 
Friends Church brought the message from Jeremiah 29:11 " I know the plans I have for you".  On 4th 
First Day in March, Pastor Oscar Mmbale, Belize Friends Center, Belize City, Belize, was our guest 
speaker.  His message was taken from Matthew 13:1-8 and he spoke about community- building 
amongst the people and youth of Belize City. We resumed our 4th Thursday Prayer Meeting at 7:00pm 
with access through the Meeting's zoom link.  All are invited to join our semi-program worship and 
Prayer Meeting. 

 
Our membership remains the same with consistent visits by attenders and visitors.  We continue to 
support Davanga School in Western Kenya by providing uniforms for 75 indigent children. Presently, we 
are in the midst of a fund raising drive to complete construction of the last two of eight classrooms at 
Davanga Primary School that we started almost a decade ago.  

 
During the Quarter, that was, members had daily virtual Zoom Worship, with various Quaker groups, for 
example, Pendle Hill. We continue our 4th First Day virtual inter-visitation with Manhasset Monthly 
Meeting and Friends Church Baltimore, Baltimore Yearly Meeting, Women's Worship Meeting. As well 
as, 1st First Day Quarterly inter-visitation with 15th Street Monthly Meeting.    

                                 
We will continue to meet virtually until it is spiritually and medically safe for us to gather, then, we will 
modify to a Hybrid Meeting space, in Room 1.  

 

Faithfully submitted 
Gloria Thompson (Co-Clerk) 



 

 



Joint Nominating Committee Report 

18th day of 4th month 2021 

The New York Quarterly Nominating Committee has met regularly each month over the past year to 

discern nominees to New York Quarterly Meeting Committees; we have met bi-weekly in January, 

February and March to prepare for this Quarterly meeting.  Our meetings have been held via Zoom due 

to the social distancing requirements for avoiding COVID-19.   

Our work significantly deepened early in the year, when as part of discerning a nomination, a Friend 

asked “what is the most loving thing we can do?”.  This question has grounded our work over the past 

year: what is the most loving thing we can do for our committees and what is the most loving thing we 

can do for Friends agreeing to serve on these committees. 

Securing the nominees for this current slate has been even more challenging than in the past. Achieving 

racial diversity in our committees presents further challenges, given the nature of our membership.  

Some particularly challenging committees to fill include 

• Governance roles for the Quarter: The assistant clerk, Quarterly Ministry and Counsel, and 

Quarterly Nominating particularly need Friends to serve. 

• Gay Pride Parade Coordinators. Both seats are currently empty. We ask the Quarter to discern if 

it is still led to organize a Quaker contingent for the parade or if our support for the LGBTQ 

community is leading us in a different direction.   

• Brooklyn Friends School Board of Trustees.  We understand the recent and continuing concerns 

about the state of the school may deter some Friends from serving on the board.  We encourage 

Friends to consider whether they may be led to serve on this Board. 

• Friends Seminary Board of Trustees.  In light of a growing number of governance activities that 

must be conducted by formal trustees (as opposed to non-Trustee committee members), 

Friends Seminary is expanding the number of Trustees on its board by six, which means the 

Quarter needs to find an additional three Friends to serve. The expectation is that the new seats 

can be filled over the next 1-2 years so that we are able to find seasoned Friends to serve.  

Friends currently on the Board are finding the work rewarding and that the relationship 

between the Board and Quarter is in a position to continue to grow. 

Our experience is that Friends are not aware of the importance of the love in the work of our Quarterly 

committees. We need to celebrate the good work of the Quarterly Meeting, especially how the work of 

loving one another opens paths for healing within the Quarter.  

Submitted in Friendship, 

 

Joint Quarterly Nominating Committee 

Beverly Archibald    Elizabeth Powers 

Dave Britton     Charles Sirey 

Patty Frascatore    Carol Summar 



Relief Committee Supplemental Report to New York Quarterly Meeting
April 18, 2021 via Zoom

As is the case with everybody else, the Relief Committee has changed its way of 
working.  We now meet via Zoom, have enhanced our presence on the Quarterly 
Meeting website, and simplified our application procedures.  This report will bring 
Friends up to date on what we have been doing since the January Quarterly 
Meeting.

Friends may remember that In January the Relief Committee has usually returned 
funds in its bank account over $35,000 to the Quarterly Meeting for reinvestment in 
the Combined Trusts.  This past January, however, the Relief Committee did not 
make the usual return.  At that time we were still considering a proposal from the 
Quarterly Meeting clerks in November of 2020.  The clerks suggested that the Relief
Committee distribute Its income directly to the monthly meetings.  The income 
would be distributed in proportionate shares based on New York Yearly meeting 
membership figures.  The Relief Committee’s discernment took place over several 
months and included outreach to the monthly meetings.  Ultimately, we reached 
unity over a somewhat different proposal.

The Relief Committee would like the monthly meetings to consider our funds as a 
resource.  Our new proposal is to make initial grants to the monthly meetings of 
between $2,000 and $5,000.  The exact amount will be determined by each 
monthly meeting, according to their perceived need for funds and willingness to 
manage them.  These funds will be earmarked for committees charged with 
pastoral care in order to enable them to fund smaller requests (i.e. $500 - $1,500) 
from their members and attenders.  Larger financial needs may be referred directly 
to the Relief Committee.  The Relief Committee will remain in touch with the 
monthly meetings to ascertain levels of need and interest in continuing this pilot 
program.

As of the writing of this report e-mails have gone out to the various monthly 
meeting care committees asking them if they would be comfortable with our revised
proposal.  Our next regular meeting is scheduled for April 15, just three days before 
the Quarterly Meeting and we expect to expand this report at that time.

Respectfully submitted,

Ted Bongiovanni (Brooklyn)
Andres Colapinto, Treasurer (Brooklyn)
Jessica Fleischer-Black (Brooklyn)
Bobby Gonzales (Fifteenth Street)
Nancy Hadley-Jaffe, Clerk (Fifteenth Street)
CJ Holm (Brooklyn)
Emmanuel (Manny) Mulinidi (Fifteenth Street)
Ronald Rieder (Morningside) (co-opted)



Relief Committee Supplemental Report B April 18, 2021



Manhattan Monthly Meeting 
Religious Society of Friends

15 Rutherford Place
New York, NY  10003

 February 20, 2021

Monthly Meeting Clerks,
New York Quarterly Meeting,
15 Rutherford Place
New York, NY 10003

Re: Request for funds towards construction of 2 Classrooms at Davanga Friends School, Kenya

As Co-clerk of Manhattan Monthly Meeting (MMM), I extend our sincere thanks to Meetings and 
individuals within New York Quarterly for their past contributions towards building Davanga Friends 
School in Kenya.

On behalf of Manhattan Monthly Meeting, I would like to give an update on the school and ask your 
Meeting for a contribution towards construction of the remaining 2 classrooms.  In this time of a global 
pandemic and with the rainy season in the forecast, it will be difficult to find space for classes now being 
held outside under trees.   The meeting has an urgent need to finish construction of these classrooms and 
request your financial support.  See pictures attached.

Davanga Friends School foundation was started by Manhattan Monthly Meeting in 2009 with donations 
from World Ministries of New York Yearly Meeting and New York Quarterly Meeting (through special 
fund raising “capital campaign”), and other friends. As of now, the school has six completed classrooms, a 
common room for teachers, a bore-hole (well) for water and pit latrines. There are currently 270 students, 
in classes Pre-K through 8th grade. This student population is much too big to be accommodated in the 
available space. The four classrooms have been partitioned, and for the time being Pre-K class and 
Kindergarten use the nearby Friends Meeting House. The foundation has been laid for two more 
classrooms, but we have been unable to complete them due to a lack of funds, a bit more than $10,000.  
Presently,  we have $5,000:00 in hand and working towards the aforementioned goal.

Margaret Mulindi, Co-Clerk of Manhattan Monthly Meeting is in Kenya.  She visited the school during the 
past year and bought uniforms for more than 80 children orphaned by HIV (Aids) at the school, with funds 
supplied by Manhattan Monthly Meeting. The funds which Manhattan Monthly Meeting supplies annually 
are sufficient for uniforms but not to build the classrooms.

We deeply appreciate your Meeting’s support of this project.

Yours in faith,

                                                                                     Gloria Thompson, Co-Clerk
                                                                                     Manhattan Monthly Meeting



New York Quarterly Meeting, Religious Society of Friends
Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business
 Zoom/video-conferencing / Fifteenth St. Meeting

fourth month and eighteenth day, 2021

ADVANCE AGENDA
2021-03-23 in-progress

11-12pm: Meeting for Worship: joining 15th Street Meeting for Zoom worship
1pm-2pm  Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business
2pm Trustees Annual Meeting of the Corporation
until 4pm: continue Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business

*All Annual and Monthly Meeting Reports will be posted to the website prior to the meeting. 

*Please submit by email announcements to be made by the clerk at the NYQM prior to the meeting 
for inclusion in the minutes.

*Announcements to be made at the NYQM by the clerk should be submitted prior to the meeting by 
email for inclusion in the minutes.

*The following order for agenda items will change prior to the Meeting

DEADLINES FOR REPORTS:  Friday, April 2nd, 2021

Reports:
2pm Annual Meeting of the Corporation

Joint Nominating Roster – consent agenda
Joint Nominating Report
Audit Report 
CQL report
M&C report
Relief Cmte report

Brooklyn Monthly Meeting Report
Fifteenth Street Meeting Report
Flushing Monthly Meeting Report
Manhattan Monthly Meeting Report 
Morningside Monthly Meeting Report
Staten Island Meeting Report



ANNOUNCEMENTS:
Faith and Practice - 2020 revised edition is now available

Copies of the revised edition of Faith and Practice are available to be mailed from the NYYM office. 
Copies cannot be picked up at this time. Complimentary copies have already been mailed to all 
Monthly Meeting Clerks, MM Clerks of Ministry & Counsel, and to all Prison Worship Group 
members.

One revision is an important change to Quaker practice. The Membership section has been rewritten to 
include an additional path to membership. Previously, the only path to membership was via a monthly 
meeting. Now prospective Friends have the option of applying directly to the yearly meeting via the 
clerk of Ministry and Pastoral Care Committee. It is hoped the new path will better accommodate those
who move frequently, cannot connect with a monthly meeting, or are incarcerated.

To order your copy, contact office@nyym.org. The suggested contribution is $10.00 per copy.

John McCtchen concert: May 1, 2021 FREE. More information to come...

July Meeting location: via ZOOM? Prospect Park? More information to come...

UPCOMING NYQM DATES:
2021 NYQM dates:
July 17th: Saturday, Quaker Cemetery, Prospect Park, Brooklyn
October 17th: Morningside Monthly Meeting, Manhattan

2022 NYQM dates:
January 16th: Brooklyn Friends Meeting, Brooklyn
April 17th: Fifteenth Street Meeting, Manhattan [Easter]
July 16th: Saturday, Quaker Cemetery, Prospect Park, Brooklyn
October 16th: Flushing Monthly Meeting, Flushing

Formatting instructions when submitting reports for our website: 
 Use only a PDF format
 All files should be named as the following: YYYYMMDD_MorningsideMonthlyMeeting or 

20210117_CommunicationsCommitteeAnnualReport. 
 incorrect example: 2018-10-28 Title of Document)
 Do not put NYQM in the document name.

Thank you, this helps our office staff!

mailto:office@nyym.org


2021.4.18 Brooklyn clerk’s report 

Dear Friends,

During this time, we continue to rely on technology to keep us connected.  
Our three meetings for worship – two on Sunday mornings and one on 
Tuesday night – continue to provide the primary means for corporate 
worship.  We are grateful to have friends from many places around the world
join us on a regular basis.  

This quarter we held three meetings for worship with a concern for business 
via zoom.  

 Thanks to the communications committees, we have a bi weekly 
announcement/event listing that goes out to BMM friends. Our activities 
remain robust and varied.  The ad hoc committee on racial justice offered 
numerous learning sessions via zoom last year, and is continuing to provide 
them this year, with the intent that we will organize our social justice effort 
to address one or two issues within criminal justice, reimaging policing, 
economic justice, health care or education.  On April 13, the committee will 
provide a session on health and mental health access and equity concerns. 

Several friends organized a white quaker anti – racist affinity group that 
meets monthly  - and has for the past year - to discern what it means to be 
anti – racist as a Quaker.   

The spiritual reading group meets every second first day of the month at 
10:00, also via zoom. 

 The pastoral care committee reached out to friends offering help to get 
vaccines, a service greatly appreciated by many of our elder members. 

The community dinner provides monthly takeout meals for those in need in 
our area and is working with Brooklyn Relief Kitchen to provide lunches 
several times a week.  We know the importance of direct service and are 
eager to do that with even greater impact by partnering with Brooklyn 
organizations that serve people in need of food.

The Library committee hosts monthly discussion sessions via zoom, based on
readings related to Bayard Rustin and his work. In addition, the committee 
offers selected readings about Quaker historical figures every week in our 
online newsletter. 

Our first day school committee sent materials to families to provide 
opportunities for Quaker activities at home. The committee is planning a 
picnic in the spring.   



Last month, we launched a program called, Quakerism 101, which offers 
seven sessions on the history, faith, practices and organizations of friends. 
We are delighted that friends from around the Quarter and from Wilton 
meeting in Conn. have signed up for our sessions.  The sessions are offered 
via Zoom and materials are in a google classroom, which can be made 
available to others.  

One long term attender, Diana Jenson, formerly joined us this month as  a 
member.  We are saddened to report the death of a long term member, 
Nicholas Boyce.  We will hold him and his family in our hearts and in the 
Light.    

We have kept active and connected this past year, but we miss being 
together in person.  It is our hope that this spring we can worship  in person 
in the cemetery and in the meeting house  - with all appropriate safety 
protocols in place.  And we will keep holding in our hearts the hope of being 
back together again regularly sometime this year.  

Joan Malin
 Clerk, 
Brooklyn meeting  



2021418Morningside Report 
 
Morningside Monthly Meeting 
Report to the New York Quarterly Meeting 
April 18, 2021 
 

1.  Morningside Monthly Meeting has been holding meeting for worship each first day at 11 
a.m.  We meet in blended worship, with some Friends attending via zoom, while others gather 
in person in Riverside Church and join the meeting on zoom.  Meeting for Children is not 
convening at this time. 

 
2. Meeting for Worship with a Concern for Business was held in a blended meeting via zoom 

and in-person at Riverside Church on February 7, March 7, and April 4, 2021. 
 

3. Bible study continues to meet on the second Seventh day of each month at 1 p.m., via zoom. 
 

4.  Moving with Spirit continues to meet on the first First Day of each month at 10 a.m. via 
zoom.  We anticipate meeting in blended worship in person/via zoom beginning in May 2021. 
 

5. The Racial Justice Study Group met on January 24th, February 28th, and March 28th.  The 
Racial Justice Study Group is open to all at Morningside, focusing us on interrogating and 
understanding the ways that white supremacy and structural racism have permeated and 
driven all aspects of life and history in the United States.  
 

6. As a first step in deepening Morningside Meeting’s commitment to pursuing anti-racist 
principles and practices, a year-long exploration of New York Yearly Meeting’s Faith and 
Practice began in February 2021.  The exploration is focused with queries on how Faith and 
Practice might challenge the Meeting to be more aware of and committed to dismantling 
racism within Morningside, and how implicit or explicit racial bias might underpin some 
structures laid out in Faith and Practice, which guides much of how Morningside operates.  
The overarching goal of this work is to deepen Morningside’s commitment to building a 
beloved learning community. 
 

7. Committee meetings continue chiefly via zoom, with more blended meetings in person/zoom 
anticipated.  We are grateful for Friends and attenders faithful efforts to hold and nourish our 
community through the pandemic, as committee meetings have become much more frequent. 
 

8. Morningside’s Peace and Social Concerns, formerly a committee of the whole, was approved 
by the meeting to become a standing committee for at least through the end of 2021, to be 
reviewed at December meeting for worship with a concern for business.  The standing 
committee held its first meeting on April 11, 2021. 

 
 

Jane Alexandre 
Clerk 
Morningside Monthly Meeting    
 



1324 Forest Ave, #193, Staten Island, NY 10302 

https://statenislandquakers.org 

Staten Island Meeting 
of the Religious Society of Friends 

Clerk's report to New York Quarterly Meeting – April 18, 2021 

 

Staten Island Meeting meets virtually on 4th Sundays at 10:10 am. With consent of the 

meeting, the clerk makes an assessment each month whether safety protocols have been met to 

warrant a return to meeting in person. The status is relayed to attenders via email. We held one 

Meeting for Worship during the quarter. Another is planned for next Sunday, April 25.  

2nd Sunday outdoor hybrid virtual/in-person meetings at the beach resume May 9. We 

have much appreciated the attendance of several Brooklyn Meeting Friends at these outdoor 

meetings in past years. Post-meeting activities in 2020 included a bike ride across the Goethals 

Bridge to New Jersey. More such hijinks are contemplated for 2021. 

. 

In Friendship, 

 

Ted Lochwyn, Clerk  

 

 

 

 

 
railroad lift bridge & tugs as seen from Goethals Bridge 



20210418_Flushing Monthly Meeting 
 
 
Flushing Monthly Meeting continues to meet on Zoom. It is regularly attended by between 10 
and 24 people including a break-out room for First Day School the first two First Days of each 
month. When we might first meet in person will be discussed in Meeting for Worship with a 
Concern for Business in May.  
 
One meeting of a clearness committee for the wedding ceremony and marriage of Chase Baldwin 
and Daniella Salazar has been joyfully completed and we look forward to at least one more to be 
held on our grounds with masks and social distance, in May or June. 
 
A 3 year Committee to examine the long term spiritual  vitality of Flushing Meeting is being 
formed. The process is slow and exhibits some of the same  stressors in our community that 
encouraged us to form the committee. We will discuss or have presentations on estate planning, 
fund raising, expanding membership, and engaging within our broader Flushing Community. 
Other topics will be discussed. 
 
We lost a long term and loving member of our community last spring, Joan Kindler. Her family 
has made a gift in her memory to complete an ADA compliant bathroom and rose garden and we 
are deeply grateful and doing all due diligence to accomplish this in a timely manner. A family 
member joined us in worship recently and contributed to a poignant and gathered meeting that 
included many tributes to Joan.  
 
Several members of FMM are contributing time and resources to help stand up a meeting in 
Bethpage, Long Island. This effort is led by Jay Singh, a Jericho Meeting attender and Bethpage 
worship has been attended by members of FMM, the Quarter, and NYYM. It is an ongoing and 
very moving exercise in solidarity and spiritual community.  
 
Respectfully, 
 
Jeffrey Guyton, clerk FMM 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Trustees of
New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious
  Society of Friends - Operations Fund

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of New York Quarterly Meeting 
of the Religious Society of Friends - Operations Fund, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as of December 31, 2020, and the related statements of activities, 
functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 



Basis for Qualified Opinion

As more fully described in Note 1f to the financial statements, property and equipment 
purchased or donated prior to January 1, 2007 is not reflected in the statement of financial 
position. In our opinion, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America require that such assets be included in the statement of financial position. 
Quantification of the effects on the financial statements of not recording property and equipment 
is not practicable.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter discussed in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 
paragraph, the financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of 
Friends - Operations Fund as of December 31, 2020, and the changes in its net assets, 
functional expenses and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As explained in Note 1a to the financial statements, New York Quarterly Meeting of the 
Religious Society of Friends - Operations Fund includes all programs of the New York Quarterly 
Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends except for the member Monthly Meeting programs.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited the New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends
- Operations Fund’s 2019 financial statements, and we expressed a qualified audit opinion on 
those audited financial statements in our report dated April 16, 2020. The qualification was 
based on the fact that property and equipment purchased prior to January 1, 2007 was not 
reflected in the statement of financial position. In our opinion, the summarized comparative 
information presented herein as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 is consistent, in 
all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.

New York, New York
April 7, 2021
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2020 2019

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 1b and 7) $     572,702 $     343,613
Investments and loan funds (Notes 1c, 1d, 4 and 6) 31,685,214 28,741,322  
Accounts receivable 99,887        107,553       
Prepaid expenses 7,239          15,666         
Cash - reserve fund (Notes 1b, 2 and 7) 1,439,256   1,060,372
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
  (Notes 1f and 8) 5,468,156   5,693,495    

Total Assets $39,272,454 $35,962,021

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $       74,066 $       65,994

Undistributed income due to beneficiaries 17,863        19,089         
Reserve fund payable (Note 2) 642,456      528,738       
Deferred rental income (Note 1g) 2,380          11,083

Total Liabilities 736,765      624,904       

Commitment and Contingencies (Notes 9 and 10)

Net Assets
Without Donor Restrictions

Operating 13,000        13,000
Meeting designated (Note 5a) 33,222,325 30,446,478

Total Without Donor Restrictions 33,235,325 30,459,478  
With Donor Restrictions

Program restrictions (Note 5b) 66,300        69,250

Time and purpose restrictions (Notes 5b and 6) 4,665,668   4,284,700
Perpetual in nature (Notes 5b and 6) 568,396      523,689

Total With Donor Restrictions 5,300,364   4,877,639    
Total Net Assets 38,535,689 35,337,117  

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $39,272,454 $35,962,021

DECEMBER 31, 2020 WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR 2019

NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS 

SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

See independent auditors' report and notes to financial statements.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS 

SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR 2019

Time and

Meeting Program Purpose Perpetual 2020 2019

Operating Designated Total Restrictions Restrictions in Nature Total Total Total

Changes in Net Assets

Operations

Revenues, Gains and Other Support
Contributions from monthly meetings and others $    12,113 -$          $       12,113 $      25,000 -$          -$     $     25,000 $       37,113 $       72,837
Rental income - 110/112 Schermerhorn Street (Note 1g) 961,568    -            961,568      -            -            -       -          961,568      920,642      
Building usage - Friends Seminary (Note 1a and 1g) 888,972    888,972      -            -            -       -          888,972      2,078,090
Monthly rentals - 15th Street property (Note 1g) 53,169      -            53,169        -            -            -       -          53,169        71,623
Users fees for 15th Street and Brooklyn and cemetery income 31,264      -            31,264        -            -            -       -          31,264        63,356        
Building usage - alleyway -          -            -            -            -            -       -          -            74,500
Miscellaneous income 4,394        -            4,394          -            -            -       -          4,394          6,904          
Donated services -          -            -            -            -            -       -          -            2,728          
Interest, dividends and capital gain distributions (net of fees) 4 724,771      724,775      -            120,657      4,242      124,899     849,674      870,711      
Net assets released from restrictions (Note 5b) 112,457 -            112,457      (27,950) (84,507) -       (112,457)   -            -            
Appropriations to transfer operating overage (overage of
  $1,374,973 in 2019) (218,660)   218,660      -            -            -            -       -          -            -            

Total Revenues, Gains and Other Support 1,845,281 943,431      2,788,712   (2,950)         36,150        4,242      37,442       2,826,154   4,161,391   

Expenses
Program Services 1,076,450 -            1,076,450   -            -            -       -          1,076,450   1,219,551   

Supporting Service

Management and General 768,831    -            768,831      -            -            -       -          768,831      790,802      

Total Expenses 1,845,281 -            1,845,281   -            -            -       -          1,845,281   2,010,353   

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets Before Items Below -          943,431      943,431      (2,950)         36,150        4,242      37,442       980,873      2,151,038   

Unrealized gain on investments -          1,990,311 1,990,311   -            336,874 39,533 376,407     2,366,718   2,951,400   
Realized gain on sale of investments -          46,936        46,936        -            7,944          932         8,876         55,812        9,277          
Legal fees related to litigation (Note 10a) (204,831) (204,831)     (204,831)     -            
Legal fees related to separation agreement -          -            -            -            -            -       -          -            (91,638)       

Increase (decrease) in net assets -          2,775,847   2,775,847   (2,950)         380,968      44,707    422,725     3,198,572   5,020,077   
Net assets, beginning of year 13,000      30,446,478 30,459,478 69,250        4,284,700   523,689  4,877,639  35,337,117 30,317,040

Net Assets, End of Year $    13,000 $33,222,325 $33,235,325 $      66,300 $  4,665,668 $568,396 $5,300,364 $38,535,689 $35,337,117

With Donor RestrictionsWithout Donor Restrictions

See independent auditors' report and notes to financial statements.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS

SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR 2019

2019

Supporting 

Service

Quaker Staten Management Total Total

Living 15th Street Brooklyn Cemetery Morningside Island Distributions Total and General Expenses Expenses

Salaries, payroll taxes and employee benefits -$   $   136,522 $119,433 $  37,665 -$          $   - -$           $   293,620 $     406,429 $   700,049 $   835,244
Utilities and rent -     26,750      6,054     2,374     12,600              - -             47,778       1,804           49,582      59,404
Building maintenance expense -     17,630      37,656   33,000   -                 - -             88,286       4,134           92,420      166,850    
Insurance -     -          -       -       -                 - -             -          195,341       195,341    175,491    

Office expense -     9,767        20,558   740        17                     - -             31,082       14,651         45,733      47,876      
Telephone -     363           414        -       -                 - -             777            3,976           4,753        4,159
Professional fees 2,950    -          -       -       -                 - -             2,950         91,501         94,451      109,792
Committee expenses -     17,402      2,079     3,161     -                 - -             22,642       13,616         36,258      50,943      
Landscaping -     3,333        -       3,600     -                 - -             6,933         -             6,933        3,416

Distribution to third party beneficiaries -     -          -       -       -                 - 17,864         17,864       -             17,864      19,065      
Relief payments to beneficiaries -     -          -       -       -                 - 6,446           6,446         -             6,446        13,491
Educational Fund -     -          -       -       -                 - 116,450       116,450     -             116,450    69,762      
Miscellaneous and bad debt expense -     2,464        1,560     -       -                 - -             4,024         14,212         18,236      5,949
Depreciation -     359,132    67,146   11,098   222                   - -             437,598     23,167         460,765    448,911    

Total Expenses, 2020 $  2,950 $   573,363 $254,900 $  91,638 $       12,839 $   - $     140,760 $1,076,450 $     768,831 $1,845,281

Total Expenses, 2019 $  5,750 $   711,326 $294,445 $  91,696 $       12,016 $2,000 $     102,318 $1,219,551 $     790,802 $2,010,353

2020

Program Services

See independent auditors' report and notes to financial statements.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR 2019

2020 2019

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Increase in net assets $ 3,198,572 $ 5,020,077
Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets to 
  net cash provided by operating activities:

Realized and unrealized gain on investments (2,422,530) (2,960,677)
Depreciation 460,765     448,911     
Bad debt expense 17,656       5,141         
(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable (9,990)        40,656       
Prepaid expenses 8,427         (5,166)        

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,072         (63,207)      
Undistributed income due to beneficiaries (1,226)        (9,087)        
Reserve fund payable 113,718     528,738     

Deferred income (8,703)        163            
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 1,364,761  3,005,549  

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Purchase of investments (4,376,592) (3,019,372)
Proceeds from sale of investments 3,855,230  1,382,576  
Purchase of property and equipment (235,426)    (68,196)      

Net Cash Used By Investing Activities (756,788)    (1,704,992)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 607,973     1,300,557  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,403,985 103,428     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 2,011,958 $ 1,403,985

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents $    572,702 $    343,613
Cash - reserve fund 1,439,256 1,060,372

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 2,011,958 $ 1,403,985

NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS 

SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

See independent auditors' report and notes to financial statements.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a - Organization
New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends (“NYQM”) is a New 
York Religious Law corporation that owns the land and buildings and cemetery (Note 
1f) operated by the Society of Friends in Manhattan and Brooklyn, and administers 
funds that support them. New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of 
Friends is funded by investment income, rental income and contributions.

NYQM formerly operated an independent, college preparatory Quaker school 
serving students from kindergarten through twelfth grade, Friends Seminary
("FS”). On December 15, 2015, FS received its own charter from the Education 
Department of the State of New York At that time, NYQM signed a Term Sheet 
pertaining to conveyance, lease and shared use of certain properties owned by 
NYQM. 

In July 2019, the New York State Supreme Court approved the transfer and lease of 
assets from NYQM to FS. NYQM conveyed title to certain properties to FS subject to 
covenants restricting the use of the properties.  NYQM will lease other properties to 
FS for an annual fee (retroactive to July 1, 2016) beginning in 2019 for the use of the 
properties.

Properties transferred to Friends Seminary:

220 East 15th Street, New York, New York

Properties leased to Friends Seminary:

222 East 16th Street, New York, New York - Lease term - initial period of 
ninety-nine years with a renewal option for an additional ninety-nine years

226 East 16th Street, New York, New York - Lease term - seventy-five years

Both of the above properties are leased for a base user fee. The fee shall 
escalate annually starting in year two by the greater of 2.5% or the percentage 
increase in the Consumer Price Index. The fee shall further escalate on each 
15th anniversary of the commencement date.

Properties leased to Friends Seminary for $1 per year.  FS is responsible 
  for all ordinary and capital maintenance:

212 East 16th Street, New York, New York
214 East 16th Street, New York, New York
216 East 16th Street, New York, New York
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

a - Organization (continued)
These financial statements reflect only the financial position and activity of the 
New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends - Operations 
Fund. The Operations Fund includes all programs of NYQM, except for the 
member Monthly Meeting programs.

b - Cash and Cash Equivalents
NYQM considers all short-term highly liquid investments, purchased with original 
maturities of three months or less, to be cash equivalents, except for those short-
term investments managed by NYQM’s investment managers as part of their long-
term investment strategies or held as part of the Reserve Fund (Note 2).

c - Investments
NYQM reflects investments at fair value in the statement of financial position. 
Investment income including unrealized gains and losses are reflected in the 
statement of activities as increases and decreases in net assets without donor 
restrictions unless their use is restricted by explicit donor stipulations or by law. 
Gains and other investment income that are limited to specific uses by donor-
imposed restrictions are reported as increases in net assets without donor 
restrictions if the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which gains and other 
investment income are recognized. All other donor restricted gains and other 
investment income are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. 
When a net asset expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net 
assets without donor restrictions.

d - Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is an estimate of the exit price, representing the amount that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants (i.e., the exit price at the measurement date). Fair 
value measurements are not adjusted for transaction costs. The fair value hierarchy 
prioritizes inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three 
levels.

  
Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities are 
referred to as Level 1 inputs. Inputs other than quoted market prices that are 
observable, either directly or indirectly, and reasonably available are referred to 
as Level 2 inputs. Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants 
would use in pricing the asset or liability and are developed based on market data 
obtained from sources independent of NYQM. Unobservable inputs reflect the 
assumptions developed by NYQM based on available information about what 
market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability and are referred to 
as Level 3.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

d - Fair Value Measurements (continued)
An asset or liability’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest 
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Availability of 
observable inputs can vary and is affected by a variety of factors. Level 3 assets 
and liabilities involve greater judgment than Level 1 or Level 2 assets or liabilities.

The values assigned to these investments and any unrealized gains or losses 
reported are based on available information and do not necessarily represent 
amounts that might be realized if a ready market existed and such differences 
could be material. The ultimate realization of such amounts depends on future 
events and circumstances and therefore, valuation estimates may differ from the 
value realized upon disposition of individual positions.

e - Contributions
NYQM recognizes contributions when cash, securities or other assets; an 
unconditional promise to give; or a notification of a beneficial interest is received. 
Conditional promises to give, that is, those with a measurable performance or other 
barrier and a right of return, are not recognized until the conditions on which they 
depend have been met.

Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to NYQM, 
that is, in substance, unconditional. Contributions that are restricted by the donor 
are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions if the restrictions 
expire in the fiscal year in which the contribution is recognized. All other donor 
restricted contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor 
restrictions depending on the nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires, 
net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions.

f - Property and Equipment
Property and equipment acquired after January 1, 2007 are recorded at cost and 
depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the 
related asset. Prior to January 1, 2007, NYQM expensed all disbursements for the 
purchase of property and equipment. Accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America (“GAAP”) require that property and equipment be 
capitalized at cost and be depreciated over their estimated useful lives. The 
carrying value of the land, buildings and equipment purchased or donated prior to 
this date has not been determined by NYQM; therefore, the financial statements are 
not presented in accordance with GAAP.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f - Property and equipment (continued)
As of December 31, 2020, New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of 
Friends - Operations Fund owns the following real properties in addition to the real 
properties listed in Note 1a, which are leased to the FS. The historical cost of these 
properties are not reflected on the statement of financial position:

Properties used by NYQM:

110 Schermerhorn Street, Brooklyn, New York
112 Schermerhorn Street, Brooklyn, New York
Cemetery, Prospect Park, Brooklyn, New York

*  15 Rutherford Place, New York, New York
*  221 East 15th Street, New York, New York

* These properties are covered by a shared space agreement with FS (Notes 1a 
and 2).

g - Rental and Building Usage Income
      Rental and building usage income are recognized over the life of the lease.

Payments received in advance are recorded as deferred income.

h - Financial Statement Presentation
The financial statements of NYQM have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, 
which requires NYQM to report information regarding its financial position and
activities according to the following net asset classifications:

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions and may be 
expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of NYQM. 
These net assets may be used at the discretion of NYQM’s management and 
Board of Trustees.

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors and grantors. Some 
donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be met by 
actions of NYQM or the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are 
perpetual in nature, where by the donor has stipulated the funds be 
maintained in perpetuity.

i - Use of Estimates
      The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 

accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results 
could differ from those estimates.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

j - Functional Allocation of Expenses
The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributable 
to more than one program or supporting function. Expenses are applied directly to 
programs where applicable. A substantial portion of NYQM’s expenses are directly 
related to program activities for the Quarterly Meetings and building operations for 
Fifteenth St, Brooklyn, Concern for Quaker Living, Cemetery, Morningside and
Staten Island. Expenses that are allocated include salaries, payroll taxes and 
employee benefits, insurance, professional fees and other administrative costs 
which are allocated based upon estimates of employee time and effort.

k - Tax Status
New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends - Operations Fund 
is a religious organization exempt from federal income taxes under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

l - Summarized Financial Information
The financial information shown for 2019 in the accompanying financial statements 
is included for a basis of comparison for 2020 and presents summarized totals only.  
The 2019 amounts are not intended to include all the information necessary for a 
fair presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.

m - Subsequent events
NYQM has evaluated subsequent events through April 7, 2021, the date that the 
financial statements are considered available to be issued.

Note 2 - Reserve Fund

As part of their shared space agreements which cover building and spaces used by 
both NYQM and FS (Note 1f), both organizations must contribute funds on an annual 
basis to the Reserve Fund. This amount shall escalate and be compounded annually 
by greater of 2.5% or the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index. NYQM 
shall deposit all amounts paid in a separate bank account. If the balance in the Reserve 
Fund exceeds $3,000,000 (subject to escalation), then funding of the Reserve Fund 
shall be temporarily suspended. The Reserve Fund can be used for excavation, 
expansion and build-out of the properties. Amounts spent are capitalized and included 
in property and equipment on the statement of financial position. A Joint Committee of 
four members (two each appointed by NYQM and FS) shall meet to consider and 
approve projects to be funded out of the Reserve Fund. NYQM has final authority to 
make decisions on the use of the Reserve Fund.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 3 - Information Regarding Liquidity and Availability

NYQM operates with a balanced budget for each fiscal year based on the revenues 
expected to be available to fund anticipated expenses. A substantial amount of annual 
revenue is comprised of rental and investment revenue. NYQM considers general 
expenditures to consist of all expenses related to ongoing program activities, and the 
expenses related to management and general activities undertaken to support those 
services.

NYQM regularly monitors liquidity to meet its operating needs and other commitments 
and obligations while seeking to maximize the investment of its available funds. 
Management prepares regular cash flow projections to determine liquidity needs and 
has a policy to maintain liquid financial assets on an ongoing basis sufficient to cover 
ninety days of general expenditures.

NYQM’s financial assets of as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and those available 
within one year to meet cash needs for general expenditures are summarized as 
follows:

     2020             2019      

Financial Assets at Year End:
  Cash and cash equivalents $     572,702 $    343,613
  Investments and loan funds 31,685,214 28,741,322
  Accounts receivable 99,887 107,553
  Cash - reserve funds     1,439,256     1,060,372

          Total Financial Assets 33,797,059 30,252,860

Less: Amounts not Available to be Used within One Year:
  Net assets with donor restrictions, subject to expenditure
    for programs, purposes or passage of time (4,731,968) (4,353,950)

      Plus: Net assets with restrictions expected to be met in less
        than one year 110,000 114,000

  Net assets with donor restrictions for endowment, subject to
    spending policy and appropriation (568,396) (523,689)

  Long term loan funds receivable    (1,900,000)       (250,000)

        Financial Assets Available to Meet General Expenditures 
           within One Year $26,706,695 $25,239,221

The 2021 general expenditures for NYQM are currently budgeted to be $1,880,000 plus 
$1,340,000 of capital expenditure.
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 4 - Investments and Loan Funds
                  

Investment and loan funds consist of the following:

                2020                                 2019                  
     Cost     Fair Value       Cost     Fair Value 

Cash equivalents $      96,578 $        96,578 $     460,850 $     460,850
Certificates of deposit 285,000 319,053 485,000 496,958
Corporate bond 879,000 886,366   -        -      
Friends Fiduciary Funds:
  Quaker Growth and Income   10,626,962 13,808,819   10,626,962 12,471,990
  Quaker Green Fund 4,033,794 5,338,869 4,033,794 4,800,350
  Clean Tech Essex Fund 468,039 942,606 473,660 587,858
Mutual funds 7,783,812 8,142,923 7,815,745 8,073,316
Loan funds     2,150,000 2,150,000     1,850,000     1,850,000

$26,323,185 $31,685,214 $25,746,011 $28,741,322

NYQM’s investment in the Friends Fiduciary funds represent co-mingled funds and 
separately managed accounts for Quaker organizations.

Investment in loan funds at December 31, consists of loans to 501(c)(3) organizations 
as follows:

Interest
  Rate  

Maturity
   Date    

Loan
Amount

Loan Funds:
Partners for Common Good 2.500% 8/01/21 $250,000
Shared Interest, Inc. 2.250% 9/30/22 200,000
Local Initiatives Support Corporation 3.000% 2/12/23 500,000
Leviticus Alternative Fund 3.000% 2/12/23 500,000

   Opportunity Finance Network 2.300% 9/30/23 700,000
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 4 - Investments and Loan Funds (continued)

The following summarizes NYQM’s investments by the Levels within the fair value           
hierarchy used to measure their respective fair values at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

                                      2020                                        
     Total         Level 1     Level 2       Level 3   

Cash equivalents $     96,578 $   96,578 $           -      $      -      
Certificates of deposit 319,053 319,053 -      -      
Corporate bonds 886,366 886,366 -      -      
Friends Fiduciary Funds:
  Quaker Growth and Income 13.808,819 -      13.808,819 -      
  Quaker Green Fund 5,338,869 -      5,338,869 -      
  Clean Tech Essex Fund 942,606 -      942,606 -      
Mutual funds 8,142,923 8,142,923 -      -      
Loan funds     2,150,000           -                  -        2,150,000

$31,685,214 $9,444,920 $20,090,294 $2,150,000

                                       2019                                         
     Total         Level 1     Level 2       Level 3   

Cash equivalents $     460,850 $   460,850 $           -      $      -      
Certificates of deposit 496,958 496,958 -      -      
Corporate bonds -     -      -      -      
Friends Fiduciary Funds:
  Quaker Growth and Income 12,471,990 -      12,471,990 -      
  Quaker Green Fund 4,800,350 -      4,800,350 -      
  Clean Tech Essex Fund 587,858 -      587,858 -      
Mutual funds 8,073,316 8,073,316 -      -      
Loan funds     1,850,000           -                   -        1,850,000

$28,741,322 $9,031,124 $17,860,198 $1,850,000

The following summarizes changes in fair value of NYQM’s Level 3 assets for the years 
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

           Level 3             
     2020          2019     

Balance, beginning of year $1,850,000 $1,750,000
Redemptions (1,600,000) (700,000)
New investments    1,900,000      800,000

     Balance, End of Year $2,150,000 $1,850,000
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 5 - Restrictions on Net Assets

a - Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
The Meeting Designated fund has been set aside for specific purposes, including 
the annual operating budget, subject to approval by the Board of Trustees.

b - Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Net assets with Donor Restrictions are those whose use by New York Quarterly 
Meeting of the Religious Society of Friends - Operations Fund has been limited by 
donors to a specific purpose.

Net assets with Donor Restrictions at December 31 are available for the following 
purposes:

     2020          2019     

Program Restrictions
  Educational Fund $    25,000 $    25,000
  Concern for Quaker Living        41,300        44,250

$     66,300 $     69,250

Time and Purpose Restrictions
  Educational $   986,134 $   913,910
  Social purposes and operations 853,648 789,103
  Building improvements and maintenance   2,825,886   2,581,687

$4,665,668 $4,284,700

Perpetual in Nature
  Social purposes $   127,351 $   117,478
  Operations      441,045      406,211

$   568,396 $   523,689

During 2020 and 2019, net assets were released from donor restrictions by 
incurring expenses satisfying the following net asset with donor restricted purposes:

   2020      2019

Program restrictions $  27,950 $  30,750

Time and Purpose Restrictions
  Educational 16,021 16,832
  Social purposes 10,369 10,947
  Operations and maintenance   58,117   61,113

    84,507     88,892

$112,457 $119,642
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 6 - Endowment Funds

NYQM’s endowment consists of donor-restricted funds established for a variety of 
purposes. Endowment funds are classified and reported based on the existence or 
absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Consistent with New York State Not-for-Profit Corporation Law and New York Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act (NYPMIFA), NYQM retains in perpetuity (a) the 
original value of gifts donated to the endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent 
gifts to the endowment, and (c) accumulations to the endowment made in accordance 
with the direction of any applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is 
added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is 
not perpetual in nature is classified as an endowment subject to spending policy and 
appropriation until these amounts are appropriated for expenditure by NYQM.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, NYQM’s invested endowment funds all consisted 
of donor-restricted endowment funds.

Changes in endowment funds for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
summarized as follows:

                                             2020                                              
     With Donor Restrictions    

Without 
Donor

Restrictions

Investment
Income Above
Original Gift

      Amount     
Investment

in Perpetuity      Total     

Endowment funds, beginning of year $    -      $4,284,700 $523,689 $4,808,389
Investment return 9,917 465,475 44,707 520,099
Appropriation to general operations   (9,917)       (84,507)        -            (94,424)

    Endowment Funds, End of Year $   -      $4,665,668 $568,396 $5,234,064

                                             2019                                             
     With Donor Restrictions    

Without 
Donor

Restrictions

Investment
Income Above
Original Gift

      Amount     
Investment

in Perpetuity      Total     

Endowment funds, beginning of year $    -    $3,832,059 $470,359 $4,302,418
Investment return 10,473 541,533 53,330 605,336
Appropriation to general operations (10,473)       (88,892)         -           (99,365)

    Endowment Funds, End of Year $    -     $4,284,700 $523,689 $4,808,389
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 6 - Endowment Funds (continued)

NYQM relies upon the investment policy statement of its investment manager, Friends 
Fiduciary. Friends Fiduciary works to ensure that investments are in unity with Friends 
distinctive views on peace and social justice. Quaker testimonies and values guide the 
investment activity. NYQM’s investment and spending policies for endowment assets 
endeavor to provide a stream of funding for NYQM’s operations while seeking to 
preserve the purchasing power of the endowment's assets. NYQM’s investment 
guidelines anticipate allocation of funds across a number of asset classes. NYQM’s 
investment objective is to be conservative and maintain principal.

NYQM has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year an amount equal to 
interest and dividends. In establishing this policy, NYQM considered the long-term 
expected return on its endowment. This is consistent with NYQM’s objective to maintain 
the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified 
term as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment 
return.

Note 7 - Concentration of Credit Risk

NYQM maintains its cash and cash equivalents at a financial institution in New York.  
The cash balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to 
applicable limits and at times, the balance may exceed these insured limits.

Note 8 - Property and Equipment

As explained in Note 1f, prior to January 1, 2007, disbursements for the purchase of 
property and equipment were expensed. The carrying value of the land, building and 
equipment purchased or donated prior to January 1, 2007 has not been determined by 
NYQM, therefore, the financial statements are not presented in accordance with GAAP.

As of December 31, property and equipment capitalized since 2007 consists of the 
following:

Life           2020          2019     

Capital improvements 5-20 years $8,780,931 $8,580,280
Furniture and equipment 10 years      397,257      362,482

9,178,188 8,942,762
Less:  Accumulated depreciation (3,710,032) (3,249,267)

$5,468,156 $5,693,495
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NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE RELIGIOUS
SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 9 - Pension Plan

NYQM has a retirement benefit program with Teachers Insurance and Annuity 
Association in which its contribution is 6%. Employees contribute a minimum of 4% of 
their monthly compensation. Pension expense for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 was $26,473 and $27,747, respectively.

Note 10 - Contingencies
                     

a - NYQM has been named as a defendant in two abuse lawsuits involving Brooklyn 
Friends School and Friends Seminary. At the time of the alleged events, NYQM 
included Brooklyn Friends School and Friends Seminary. The two schools are now 
separately incorporated. NYQM denies the substantive allegations of these 
Complaints in their entirety and has filed motions to dismiss. The motions are 
pending. Counsel has not concluded on the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome, 
therefore, no amounts have been reflected in the accompanying financial 
statements.

b - In March 2020, the United States declared the global pandemic novel coronavirus 
COVID-19 outbreak a national emergency. As a result, NYQM has suspended 
some of its program activities at the direction of state and local governmental 
authorities. While management is currently evaluating the potential impact that the 
resulting economic uncertainties may have on NYQM, it believes that its current 
financial assets are sufficient to support NYQM’s operations on an ongoing basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

To the Board of Trustees of
New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious
  Society of Friends - Operations Fund

We have audited the financial statements of New York Quarterly Meeting of the Religious 
Society of Friends - Operations Fund as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, 
and our report thereon dated April 7, 2021, which expressed an unmodified opinion on 
those financial statements, appears on pages 1 and 2. Our audit was conducted for the 
purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The Schedule of
Investments as of December 31, 2020 is presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility 
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has be en 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the fi nancial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole.

New York, New York
April 7, 2021
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Shares/

Par Value Fair

Security Cost Value

Cash Equivalents
96,578   Short-term Income Fund $       96,578 $       96,578

Certificates of Deposit
285,000 Discover Bank 285,000      319,053      

Corporate Bond
879,000 Connecticut Green Bk Liberty 2% 879,000      886,366      

Friends Fiduciary
218,080 Quaker Growth and Income Fund 10,626,962 13,808,819
115,811 Quaker Green Fund 4,033,794   5,338,869   
354,747 Clean Tech Essex 468,039      942,606      

15,128,795 20,090,294

Mutual Funds
1,010     Vanguard STAR Fund 46,514        31,396        
1,438     Vanguard Wellington Fund Admiral 49,455        110,178      

219        Vanguard Stock Mkt Index Admiral 12,643        20,758        
742,312 * Vanguard GNMA Admiral Shares 7,668,574   7,972,436   

86          Vanguard VTSAX Fund 6,626          8,155          
Total Mutual Funds 7,783,812   8,142,923   

Loan Funds

* Partners for Common Good 250,000      250,000      

* Shared Interest, Inc. 200,000      200,000      

* Local Initiatives Support Corporation 500,000      500,000      

* Leviticus 25-23 Alternative Fund, Inc. 500,000      500,000      

* Opportunity Finance Network 700,000      700,000      

Total Loan Funds 2,150,000   2,150,000   

Total Investments $26,323,185 $31,685,214

*  Socially Purposeful Funds 

NEW YORK QUARTERLY MEETING OF THE 

RELIGIOUS SOCIETY OF FRIENDS - OPERATIONS FUND

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020

See independent auditors' report on supplementary information.


